2001

LYRAD McCONKIE and ILENE McCONKIE,
his wife, v. FLOID C. HARTMAN and RUTH A.
HARTMAN, his wife : Brief of Plaintiffs-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All italics are ours and are added for emphasis. The parties will be referred to as in the Trial Court. "R" refers to Record and "TR." refers to Transcript of Record.

NATURE OF THE CASE

The Plaintiffs instituted action in three counts seeking in the alternative: (1) Reformation of Deed of Conveyance to comply with provisions of contract of

sale; (2) Decree of Quiet Title in Plaintiffs, and (3) Specific Performance of Uniform Real Estate Contract based on Fraudulent Conveyance.

The Defendants asserted that they had performed the contract and that in any event the Plaintiffs were not entitled to relief because of laches and the Statute of Limitations.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court sitting without a jury, the Honorable J. Robert Bullock, presiding. At the conclusion of trial and argument of counsel the trial Court rendered its Memorandum Decision holding the Plaintiff's action was barred by reason of the Statute of Limitations (R. 71-72). Thereafter Plaintiffs filed a Motion for a New Trial (R. 73-90) which was denied (R. 103).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs' appeal from the Judgment of the Trial Court denying their Motion for a New Trial or in the alternative that the Judgment of the Lower Court be reversed and Judgment ordered for Plaintiffs or that a New Trial be ordered.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiffs are residents of Duchesne County, State of Utah, and reside at Altamont, Utah (TR. 9).

The property which is the subject to this suit consists of three separate parcels of land near Altamont, Utah, and comprise a total of 292 acres. (Exhibits "Pltf. #2" and "Pltf. #3") (TR. 10-11).

On March 19, 1959, the Defendants entered into a contract to sell a major portion of the subject properties to Arthello Clark, et ux, and Richard D. Titenor, et ux, excepting an 80 acre tract (W. $\frac{1}{2}$ of SE $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 1, T 2 So., Range 4 West, Uintah Special Meridian), which sale also included personal property and livestock (TR. 128). This contract did not contain any mineral reservations (Ex. "Def. no. 6") (TR. 17, 59, 60, 103, 104, 106, 110).

Notwithstanding the omission of the 80 acre tract in the original contract of March 19, 1959, the buyers occupied and farmed the total 292 acre tract (TR. 107), and sometime later filed suit against the Hartmans, Defendants in this action, for various alleged misrepresentations in the contract. This action is identified as Civil No. 3389 in the District Court of Duchesne County, Utah, which action the Trial Court took judicial notice of. The issues in this suit were still unresolved at the time Plaintiffs began negotiations to acquire the subject properties (TR. 67, 107, 108).

On or about September 20th to 25th, 1960, the Plaintiffs executed an "Agreement of Purchase" to acquire the interests of the Clarks and Titensors in the 292 acres of land (Ex. "Def. no. 4") (TR. 22, 23). This was later reduced to a more formal agreement on or about October 31, 1960 (TR. 25) (Ex. Def. no.

5"). Prior to executing any Agreement of Purchase the Plaintiffs in this action had seen the original contract of March 19, 1959, and were aware that no mineral reservations were contained therein (TR. 60).

Following preliminary negotiations and contacts between the Plaintiffs and the Defendants, the Hartmans, Clarks, Titensors, and McConkies met at the First Security Bank at Roosevelt, Utah, to conclude the matters relating to purchase of the subject properties by the Plaintiffs (TR. 63-65). Hartmans and Clarks had not yet resolved all differences and were engaged in a long conference at the Bank on that date trying to resolve various issues while Mr. McConkie was kept waiting in the lobby of the Bank (TR. 63-65, 110, 111). Late in the afternoon of that date Mr. Hartman emerged from the conference and suggested to Mr. McConkie that a new contract be drafted between the Hartmans and McConkies which would increase the interest rate permissible for mortgages which could be maintained on the subject properties and would reflect the new terms and conditions of sale between the Plaintiffs and Defendants for the land only. Mr. McConkie acquiesced in this proposal and the new contract was drafted and executed by the Parties to this suit (TR. 67-69, 73-75, 114-117) (Exhibit "Pltf. #1").

During the negotiations at the Bank on November 1, 1960, the Hartmans were represented by counsel, George Stewart of Roosevelt, Utah, and gave instructions relative to the preparation of the Uniform Real

Estate Contract (Ex. "Pltf. no. 1") (TR. 115, 116, 128). At no time did Defendants ever inform Plaintiffs that mineral rights were to be reserved or that they claimed any of the mineral interests in the land (TR. 125-127).

The Defendant, Floyd Hartman, had held a real estate license and was conversant with Uniform Real Estate Contracts and matters pertaining to conveyancing (TR. 128).

The McConkies, Plaintiffs in the subject action, took possession of the subject properties in October of 1960, and occupied and possessed said premises thereafter exclusively and paid all taxes assessed thereon (TR. 11, 12). On May 15, 1970, Plaintiffs sold a one-half acre tract of the subject properties to their son-in-law and on February 13, 1967, they sold 160 acres of the subject property located in Section 32, to one Roy Warren by Warranty Deed (TR. 11, 12, 52) (Ex. "Def. no. 12").

On December 8, 1961, the Defendants, without notice to or knowledge on the part of the Plaintiffs prepared or caused to be prepared and executed two Warranty Deeds covering the subject properties which Deeds reserved to the Grantors various mineral rights, which are still owned by Defendants (TR. 134-135) (Pltfs. Ex. no. 2 and 3). On the same date that the Deeds were prepared the Defendants caused the same to be deposited with the First Security Bank at Roosevelt, Utah, and gave no notice thereof to the Plaintiffs. (TR. 119, 120, 134). The Plaintiffs had no knowledge

of the existence of the two Deeds which had been placed in Escrow by the Defendants, and did not receive or learn of the contents and reservations of said instruments until sometime within a year after 1970 with reference to Exhibit no. 2, and within a year prior to the trial of this case as to Exhibit no. 3 (TR. 12-16). Plaintiffs performed under the Uniform Real Estate Contract of November 1, 1960, until approximately February, 1964, at which time they negotiated a new mortgage loan with Travelers Insurance Company and made arrangements to pay the Defendants the balance due them for the subject properties. The Defendants at that time instructed the First Security Bank with reference to the unpaid balance agreed upon with the Plaintiffs and authorized a final settlement of the Escrow (TR. 120, 121). At no time did Defendants ever discuss the reservation of mineral rights with the Plaintiffs or notify the Plaintiffs of same (TR. 126, 127).

The Travelers Insurance Company had requested that the title insurance work to be performed in conjunction with their mortgage loan be conducted by Security Title Company (TR. 36-39). On or about the latter part of February, 1964, a representative of the Security Title Company by the name of Anderson called at the home of the Plaintiffs and obtained the signatures of the Plaintiffs on the various mortgage loan documents required by Travelers Insurance Company (TR. 43). Thereafter the representative of the title insurance company concluded the mortgage loan

transaction for the Travelers Insurance Company (TR. 46, 47, 48) and the Defendants were paid the sums due to them for the balance of the purchase price of the property. The two Warranty Deeds covering the subject properties (Pltfs. Ex. no. 2 and Pltfs. Ex. no. 3) were recorded in the Office of the County Recorder of Duchesne County, State of Utah, on the 26th day of February, 1964. Neither of these Deeds were returned to the Plaintiffs nor did they have any knowledge of the contents or reservations thereof until 1970 or thereafter as stated above (TR. 12-16). *The Plaintiffs believed that title of the premises would be held by the Mortgagee until the mortgage was paid in full* (TR. 50, 55). In October of 1972, the Plaintiffs through counsel, directed a Demand Letter to the Defendants requesting that they convey the mineral interests which had been reserved contrary to the provisions of the contract, and this Demand was rejected. (TR. 7 and 8). Following the rejection of the demand the Plaintiffs instituted this suit.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

FRAUD APPEARING OF RECORD AND PRACTICED ON ONE HOLDING AN EXISTING INTEREST IN LANDS TOLLS THE RUNNING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS UNTIL ACTUAL DISCOVERY.

The general effect of fraud upon the running of the statutory period in most, if not all, jurisdictions “. . . is that the fraudulent concealment of a cause of action from the one to whom it belongs, but the one against whom it lies, constitutes an implied exception to the statute of limitations, postponing the commencement of the running of the statute until discovery or reasonable opportunity of discovery of the fact by the owner of the cause of action.” 51 Am. Jur., 2d Section 147, p. 717, see also *Attorney General v. Pomeroy*, 93 Utah 426; 73 P.2d 1277; Also, *Esponda v. Ogden State Bank*, 283 P. 729, 731 (Utah 1929), wherein the Utah Supreme Court stated that “. . . in the case of fraud, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the fraud is discovered by the injured person.” See 51 Am. Jur. 2d, Section 147, at p. 717, wherein the rule is stated that the statutory period begins to run “. . . from the time when the facts were discovered or should with reasonable diligence have been discovered.”

What then constitutes knowledge sufficient to put a prudent man upon inquiry and what constitutes diligence in such an inquiry?

The jurisdictions in the United States are divided as to their interpretation of what constitutes diligence on the part of the defrauded party and what constitutes sufficient facts to put him upon inquiry. A minority of jurisdictions are of the opinion that diligence by a defrauded party in an action such as this means that a party

“. . . is chargeable with notice of that which was of record, or which presumably he would have discovered by a diligent investigation prosecuted in the light of the facts of record, whether or not under the particular circumstances reasonable diligence would have led to an examination of the records. When the rule intended to be laid down by the cases is merely a rule of diligence, propositions with reference to matters of record add little to it, since, of course, where reasonable diligence requires a search of public records, the party would be chargeable with what in the exercise of such diligence is something distinct from, and in addition to, the rule of diligence, it charges with notice regardless of whether under the circumstances an ordinarily diligent person would have examined the records, and does so wholly without regard to whether or not anything had come to the knowledge of the defrauded party of a character to put him on inquiry. *Those courts which have at times laid down this more rigorous rule of record notice have experienced some difficulty in adhering to it, because it is a rule of thumb, rather than a live principle of law, and it takes no account of the numerous forms in which fraud may appear and its varied devices and circumstances of concealment.*” 37 Am. Jur. 2d, Fraud and Deceit, Section 411, pp. 558, 599. (Emphasis added)

The majority rule, however, although no Utah cases have been found directly on this point, is:

“. . . taken as a whole, the cases justify the conclusion that for purposes of the running of the statute of limitations, a distinction is to be observed as between cases where the fraud was involved in a transaction wherein title or rights

were acquired by the defrauded party (or would have been acquired but for the fraud) and cases where the fraud was practiced on an owner with reference to property held by him. Thus, when the ground of recovery relied on is the commission of a fraudulent act, and it appears that facts showing or sufficiently suggesting the fraud were of public record at the time plaintiff acquired the title or rights to which the fraud relates (or would have acquired them but for the fraud), the ruling made, under most circumstances, is that the records are to be regarded as constituting sufficient notice of the fraud to start the running of the statute. *But ordinarily, reasonable diligence does not require that one having no cause of suspicion shall examine the public records to determine whether or not others have committed acts of fraud affecting his existing property or rights, and accordingly, as to fraud of that character, it is usually held that the public records alone are not such notice as will start the running of the statute.*" 37 Am. Jur. 2d, Fraud and Deceit, Section 412, pp. 560-561 (Emphasis added).

It is evident from studying the decisions of the copious jurisdictions which adhere to this latter rule that for the period to begin running the circumstances must be such as to suggest to a person of ordinary intelligence the probability that he has been defrauded, *Warner v. Republic Steel Corporation*, 103 F. Supp. 998 at 1009 (1952), and in that regard it is important to note that these same jurisdictions hold that the fact that an investigation would have revealed the falsity of a misrepresentation will not alone bar recovery by the injured party. *Schaefer v. Berinstein*, 4 Cal. Rptr. 236

(1961). Some courts have even gone so far as to hold that when fraud is involved, public records do not constitute constructive notice to a defrauded party even though he may have had some reason to check the records. See *Gross v. Needham*, 7 Cal. Rptr. 664 (1961).

See also *Bush v. Stone*, 500 S.W.2d 885 at 891 (Texas, 1973), where the Texas court stated that:

“the mere fact that the plaintiff had the opportunity or power to investigate the fraud is not sufficient in law to charge him with knowledge. The defrauded party must be cognizant or aware of facts as would have caused the ordinarily intelligent and prudent man to investigate. Where, as here, a party is guilty of an affirmative fraudulent misrepresentation of a fact, he should not be permitted to urge that the defrauded party could have discovered the truth had he diligently made an investigation.”

The California courts have spoken on the issue of constructive notice many times. In the case of *Sime v. Malouf*, 212 P.2d 946 (1950), the Second District Court of Appeals For California stated, at page 960, that for the rule of constructive notice to run

“... there must appear in the nature of the case such a connection between the facts discovered and the further facts to be discovered that the former may be said to furnish a reasonable and natural clue to the latter. Circumstances that are dubious or equivocal are not sufficient to take the place of actual notice. * * * The rule imputes notice only of those facts that are naturally and reasonably connected with the facts known, and of which the known fact or facts can be said to

furnish a clue. It does not impute notice of every conceivable fact and circumstance however remote which might come to light by exhausting all possible means of knowledge. * * * The circumstances must be such that further inquiry is an imperative duty, and failure to make it constitutes a negligent omission."

The rationale for these cases is thus apparent, i.e., constructive notice constitutes notice only to those who would have a need or interest to check the record. Once certain facts are present, e.g., a proposed purchase of property, a hint of fraud, etc., such circumstances as these would cause a reasonably prudent man to search the record. However, a person who is holding an existing interest in a piece of land, *who has no reason to believe fraud has been committed*, is under no obligation to continually return to the recorder's office to check the record on his property to make sure no fraud has been perpetrated since he obtained his interest.

The Supreme Court of Colorado has also adopted this reasoning. In the case of *Greco v. Pullava*, 444 P.2d 383, at 384 (Colo. 1968), the court stated that

"in some jurisdictions a fraudulent conveyance of real estate is conclusively presumed to be discovered, therefore constituting notice, when the fraudulent conveyance is filed for record. * * * However, in Colorado the record of a Deed of Trust or other instrument is notice only to those persons claiming under the same chain of title who are bound to search for it."

See also *Smith v. Russell*, 20 Colo. App. 554, 80 P. 474; *Fish v. East*, 114 F. 2d 177 (10th Cir.). Again, to re-

iterate, a person holding an interest is under no obligation, absent something putting him on notice, to check on a periodic basis his chain of title. The case of *Smith v. Edwards*, 82 Utah 244, 27 P.2d 264 (1932), gives support to the rationale for the above mentioned decisions. The Court in that case at page 270, in quoting with approval from *Duabury v. Boice*, 70 Minn. 112 1130, 72 NW 838, states that

“to ascertain what constitutes a discovery of the facts constituting the fraud reference must be had to principles of equity. * * * Hence, in actions in equity, the rule was that the means of knowledge are equivalent to actual knowledge; that is, *that a knowledge of the facts would have put an ordinarily prudent man upon inquiry which, if followed up, would have resulted in a discovery of fraud, was equivalent to actual discovery.*” (Emphasis Added)

It is evident from these authorities that the purpose of the recording acts is to put prospective buyers, creditors, etc., on notice and is not to give notice to those holding existing interests in the property.

An additional problem with this issue with which we are here concerned is whether or not the Plaintiff is charged with notice by virtue of the notice to Security Title Company and/or Travelers Insurance Company. It was shown by the evidence presented that no agency relationship existed between either Security Title Company or Travelers, and the Plaintiff.

Does then notice to a third party known by Plaintiff but who is not an agent constitute notice to the

Plaintiff? This has been answered in the negative by *Madsen v. Madsen*, et al, 72 Utah 96, 269 P. 132 (1928), wherein the third party was an independent contractor where no agency existed.

The Court therein stated and held that:

“Appellant contends that knowledge on the part of the stray gatherer of Appellant’s possession of Respondent’s sheep was notice of that fact to Respondent and regardless of all other considerations, the statute of limitations ran from the date of such notice; giving the testimony its most favorable interpretation in that regard we cannot so hold. He was a stray gatherer for both parties to this suit, for other sheep men and his field of activity seems to have been limited only to the territory which he might be able to cover. He was an individual contractor, merely, and notice to an independent contractor does not bind the principle.”

In summarizing this point, I should like to refer to one final, important statement in 137 ALR at 272 wherein the authors state the general rule on this point as follows:

“. . . a purchaser of property or of a claim thereon is, ordinarily, for purposes of statutes of limitations, charged with notice of facts of record bearing on the truth of representations made by the seller in reference to title or encumbrances, since prudence usually requires a purchaser to consult the records as to such matters at the time of making his purchase . . . ; *but it is not so plain that where one has once acquired property or rights he must in all circumstances refer to the*

records to determine whether or not fraud, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, has deprived him thereof . . .” (Emphasis added).

CONCLUSION

It is evident from the facts that the Plaintiff, Mr. McConkie, at no time had any reason to believe because of any representations, actions or otherwise by the Defendants or any other party that the Defendants were adversely or fraudulently claiming any reserved mineral interests in the subject property. He therefore, had no need nor occasion to inquire into the status of the interests of the various parties which were on record.

Plaintiff at no time had any indication or warning from any source that the recorded interest was contrary to the interest which he had negotiated, acquired and agreed to in the contract and we therefore respectfully submit that the statutory period should not have commenced to run until the occasion or warning did arise which caused him to examine the record.