2001

Lyrad McConkie and Ilene McConkie v. Floid C. Hartman and Ruth A. Hartman : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

NO FRAUD APPEARS IN THE RECORD AND NONE WAS FOUND.

A review of the plaintiffs' statement of facts, defendants' statement of facts and the record clearly reveals that the trial court was correct when it informed plaintiffs' counsel as follows:

"I don't think you've shown any fraud.

* * *

I don't think there would be any factual basis that the court could find any fraud on the part of any party to this action. (R. 396)"

The trial judge's observations were correct in view of the decision by this court in *Pace v. Parrish*, 122 Utah

141, 247 P.2d 273 (1952). Defendants motion to dismiss should have been granted.

POINT II

THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES EXISTING AT OR ABOUT THE TIME THE DEEDS WERE RECORDED ON FEBRUARY 26, 1964, INCLUDING THE RECORDING WERE SUCH AS TO FURNISH FULL OPPORTUNITY TO THE PLAINTIFFS FOR THE DISCOVERY OF THE MISTAKE, OR FRAUD, IF ANY EXISTED AND THE STATUTES OF LIMITATION COMMENCED TO RUN AT THAT TIME BECAUSE PLAINTIFFS KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF THE RESERVATIONS. MORE THAN EIGHT YEARS HAVING ELAPSED SINCE THE STATUTES COMMENCED RUNNING, PLAINTIFFS' ACTION IS NOW BARRED.

The statutes of limitation for a cause of action based of an instrument in writing is six years, § 78-12-23, Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended. The statute of limitation upon a contract or obligation not founded upon an instrument in writing is four years, § 78-12-25, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. The statute of limitation for injury to real property or for an action for relief on the ground of fraud or mistake is three years, § 78-12-26, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

If a written contract in the case at bar was breached it was breached on the date the deeds were delivered and recorded on February 26, 1964, at 11:12 a.m. If the contract were a written or oral contract the breach occurred at the same time. If any fraud occurred it occurred at the same time.

Plaintiffs did not file their complaint until eight years and nine months after the breach of contract or fraud occurred. The only statute of limitation which did not unequivocally run is the limitation concerning actions based on mistake or fraud. That statute of limitation of three years commenced to run when the fraud or mistake was discovered or should have been discovered.

Prior to plaintiffs becoming the assignee of the Clarks and Titensors they were familiar with the use of First Security Bank as an escrow in real estate transactions. Mr. McConkie discussed the escrow with Mr. Clark and with the officers of First Security Bank, the escrow. He knew the escrow file was at the bank. He knew the escrow would deliver the deeds upon payment of the balance owing on the contract and he knew the deeds were probably within the escrow's file. He executed a written assignment as assignee of the Clarks' and Titensors' interest. As assignee of their interest he and the defendants continued with the same escrow. When he negotiated a discounted payoff of the balance owing on the contract he retained Security Title to issue insurance, to give a separate opinion concerning mineral interests, and to cause title of record in his name. He had the documents concerning the title exposed to

him at his home when Mr. Anderson of Security Title visited him. He went to the bank and signed a release of escrow on February 26, 1964, as assignee of the March 19, 1959, contract. He discussed the title with the officers of the bank and Mr. Anderson. He then discussed the title with Mr. Earl Dillman, an attorney at Roosevelt, Utah. He wanted the title to be cleared in order that he could deliver a mortgage satisfactory to Travelers and obtain \$75,000.00. Further, the plaintiffs knew that Security Title would record the deeds and that they would probably be mailed to him. On February 26, 1964, the deeds (Ex. P-2 and 3) were recorded at the request of Security Title along with the plaintiffs' mortgage to Travelers Insurance Company. The plaintiffs received \$75,000.00 from Travelers Insurance Company and they paid Security Title Company for their services, title insurance and opinion, and for the recording fees Security Title had paid. No one prevented the plaintiffs from reading the deeds which were probably present and exposed to them during all of the activity concerning the title to the property prior to the recording of the deeds. Certainly, the plaintiffs had every opportunity to examine the deeds prior to delivery, at the time of delivery, at the time they were recorded and since they were recorded on February 26, 1964.

Utah decisions clearly demonstrate that the plaintiffs had knowledge of the reservation of mineral interests in the warranty deeds (Ex. P-2 and 3) at the time the deeds were recorded and that said knowledge

started the running of the three year statute of limitations for actions based on fraud. In *McKellar v. McKellar*, 23 Utah 2d 106, 48 P.2d 867 (1969) plaintiffs initiated an action to cancel a warranty deed executed in 1947 and duly recorded on the grounds of mistake. Plaintiffs filed their action in 1968. The trial court entered summary judgment upon defendant's motion and this court affirmed the summary judgment. One of this court's grounds for affirming the summary judgment was that the plaintiffs had constructive notice of the deed by operation of § 57-1-6 Utah Code Annotated 1953 and § 57-3-2 Utah Code Annotated 1953 which provides:

“Every conveyance . . . shall, from the time of filing the same with the recorder of record, impart notice to all persons of the contents thereof; . . .”

In *McKellar v. McKellar*, *supra*, the court cited *Smith v. Edwards*, 81 Utah 244, 17 P.2d 264 (1932). In that case plaintiff sought an action to set aside conveyances as defrauding creditors. This court reversed the trial court and held that the action was barred under the three year statute of limitations for the reason that discovery of the conveyances was made, or the situation was such as to furnish full opportunity for the discovery of fraud, if any existed, more than three years before the action was filed. In reaching that conclusion, this court construed the three year statute of limitation and the recording statute. This court said:

“Under the statute from the time of filing the conveyance with the recorder it shall impart no-

tice to all persons of the contents thereof. From the time of recording these conveyances all persons, including plaintiffs, notice was imparted to them that the conveyances contained the statements above quoted. That the plaintiffs and all other persons had notice that such conveyances had been made and recorded seems to go without saying, for surely, if one is charged with notice of the contents, he must be charged with notice of the existence of the document itself. . . .

In this case the contents of the conveyances were of record and imparted notice of the contents and what the consideration was as shown thereby and all persons might be expected to inquire forthwith of what the 'other valuable considerations' consisted, if the truthfulness was doubted and failing to do so would cause the statute to run from the time when a reasonably prudent person would have acted and thereby discovered falsity if it existed.

* * * *

. . . Unless the notice referred to in Comp. Laws Utah 1917, § 4900, means what it says then one is left to trace out from the uncertainties of human activities, memories, and conflicting interests what the facts were. Evidently the statute was intended to constitute notice of the contents of the recorded document, without reference to place of residence or otherwise.

Under Comp. Laws Utah 1917, § 6468, the provision is clear that the limitation does not begin to run until the facts constituting the fraud are discovered. There is therefore a great deal said in the cases about what amounts to discovery.

* * * *

The language of the Utah statute, Comp. Laws Utah 1917, § 6468, subd. 4 upon the provision referring to 'discovery,' contains the following language: 'The cause of action in such case not to be deemed to have accrued until the discovery by the aggrieved party of the facts constituting the fraud or mistake.'

* * * *

The evidence discloses: The deeds were made and recorded in December, 1920. The deeds contained, among other things, the statement 'for one dollar and other good and valuable considerations.' At least one of the deeds contained an agreement to assume and pay two mortgages against the property conveyed in the sum of \$1,000 each. There was a change of possession within about six months after the conveyances. The property was mortgaged by the grantees. All of this information could have been obtained readily upon inquiry. No inquiry of any nature seems to have been made. . . .

We are of the opinion that the action is barred under the statute of limitations for the reason that discovery was made, or the situation was such as to furnish full opportunity for the discovery of fraud, if any existed, more than three years before the bringing of the action. . . ."

All of the authorities, even those cited by plaintiffs, compel the conclusion that the circumstances in the case at bar were such that the plaintiffs knew or should have known of the reservation of mineral interests in the deeds (Ex. P-2 and 3) at the time the deeds were recorded. Furthermore, if they did not know it then they undoubtedly knew it when they had all of the sub-

sequent title work done in connection with the real property described in those deeds, including the actual conveyance of part of the property to Mr. Warren in 1967, five years before they filed their complaint.

Plaintiffs' attempt to bring themselves under decisions which cover persons vested with title in land for a considerable period of time is not relevant to the case at bar. The decisions cited by plaintiff support defendants' position in connection with the knowledge of fraud required to start the statute of limitations running on February 26, 1964. Up until that time the plaintiffs in the case at bar were not vested with title. Prior to February 26, 1964, the plaintiffs in the case at bar were only purchasers of land under an executory contract to convey when the conditions of the contract were performed. In other words, even under plaintiffs' authorities the statute of limitations for fraud commenced to run under the circumstances of the case at bar when the deeds in issue were recorded on February 26, 1964.

POINT III

ANOTHER CONTENTION THAT SUPPORTS THE JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT IS THAT THE PRIOR AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES MERGED IN THE WARRANTY DEEDS WITH THE RESERVATIONS OF MINERAL INTERESTS EVEN THOUGH THE DEEDS CONTAIN PROVISIONS WHICH ARE ALLEGEDLY INCON-

**SISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE
PRIOR AGREEMENTS. THE DEEDS SUP-
ERSEDE THE AGREEMENTS.**

The warranty deeds which were delivered to the defendants superseded all prior contracts of sale even though said contracts may have been inconsistent with the deeds. All of the prior contracts are deemed to have been merged in the deeds under the circumstances of this case. In this case there were prior written agreements concerning the sale of the real property under which the purchasers made payment in full according to the oral agreement of the amount of the unpaid balance and the seller delivered the deeds to the purchasers who remained in possession under those deeds for approximately nine years before complaining about the reservations of mineral interests in the deeds. During that period the plaintiffs caused the deeds to have been recorded, mortgaged the property as owners, purchased title insurance, farmed the property, paid taxes, probably inspected the deeds during all the times they were available to them after recording and did all other acts of dominion over the real property as though they were the owners under the deeds reserving the mineral interests in the defendants. Clearly, the plaintiffs accepted delivery of the deeds which caused all prior negotiations and agreements to merge into them and supersede them. The application of the doctrine of merger is further warranted and compelled by estoppel and laches. Plaintiffs are estopped or prohibited from claiming fraud or mistake because of laches. See

Herminghausen v. Pierce (Okla.) 104 P.2d 252 (1940); *Knight v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 52 Utah 42, 172 Pac. 689 (1918); *Reese Howell Co. v. Brown*, 48 Utah 141, 158 Pac. 684 (1916); *Savings & Trust Co. v. Stout*, 36 Utah 206, 102 Pac. 865 (1909); *Percifield v. Rosa* (Colo.) 220 P.2d 546 (1950); *Schillinger v. Huber* (Mont.) 320 P.2d 346 (1958); *Eisenberg v. Goldstein* (Ill.) 195 N.E.2d 184 (1964); and *Powell v. Esary* (Wash.) 224 P.2d 323 (1950).

CONCLUSION

The judgment of the District Court should be affirmed.